No. 69911-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent.

v.

WILLIAM MICHAEL REIS, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

Kurt Boehl, WSBA No. 36627 Law Office of Kurt E. Boehl, PLLC 8420 Dayton Ave N, Suite 102 Seattle, WA 98103 kurt@keblaw.com Phone 206-728-0200 Fax 206-624-6224

Stephanie Boehl, WSBA No. 39501 Law Office of Kurt E. Boehl, PLLC 8420 Dayton Ave N, Suite 102 Seattle, WA 98103 stephanie@keblaw.com Phone 206-728-0200 Fax 206-624-6224

A. Assignments of Error

Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in denying the defendant's motion to suppress evidence by order entered on February 6, 2013.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. In 2011, the Washington State Legislature amended the state's medical cannabis laws, and accordingly, the plain language of RCW 69.51A.040 states that the possession of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of Chapter 69.51A RCW "does not constitute a crime." Does this provision legalize the possession of medical cannabis under certain circumstances, or does it merely allow patients' to assert an affirmative defense? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Mr. Reis' home was searched with regard to a suspected cannabis grow. In the affidavit for search warrant, law enforcement failed to provide any evidence Mr. Reis's small grow was in violation of the state's medical cannabis laws. Assuming RCW 69.51A.040 legalizes the possession of cannabis in certain circumstances, did the search of Mr. Reis' home violate his rights under article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution? (Assignment of Error 1.)

B. Statement of the Case

Procedural History

Defendant, Mr. Reis, and codefendant, Rachel Lynn Reis, are charged with a violation of the controlled substances act, manufacturing of marijuana¹, during a period of time intervening between April 29, 2012 through May 21, 2012. CP 1. The evidence supporting this charge was obtained from a search of Mr. Reis' home at 12225 Shorewood Dr. SW,

¹ The terms "marijuana" and "cannabis" are synonymous with each other. That said, Chapter 69.51A RCW refers only to the term "cannabis," whereas Chapter 69.50 RCW generally refers to the term "marijuana."

Burien, WA 98146 ("Shorewood Drive Property" or "Mr. Reis' home").
Rachel Lynn Reis is Mr. Reis' daughter. She also resides at the
Shorewood Drive Property, with her father. Rachel Lynn Reis is not a
party to this petition for review.

The search of Mr. Reis' home was executed pursuant to a search warrant issued on May 15, 2012. CP 50-51. Probable cause to support the search warrant was based on the affidavit of Officer Thomas Calabrese. CP 21-27.

Mr. Reis moved to suppress the evidence obtained from the search of his home. CP 9-20. On February 6, 2013, the trial court denied Mr. Reis' motion. CP 88-93. Mr. Reis filed a Notice for Discretionary Review on February 12, 2013, and an emergency motion for discretionary review on February 27, 2013. CP 95. On February 25, 2013, the trial court certified, under RAP 2.3(b)(4), that its order denying Mr. Reis' motion to suppress involves a controlling question of law as to which there is substantial ground for a difference of opinion, and that immediate review of the order may materially advance the ultimate termination of the litigation. CP 110. The state filed its opposition to the motion for discretionary review on March 8, 2013. On March 11, 2013, this Court granted discretionary review.

Statement of Facts

The District Court for King County executed a search warrant to search Mr. Reis's home based on an affidavit provided by Officer Thomas Calabrese. CP 27, 50-51. Based on Officer Calabrese's statement, the court determined there was probable cause to believe that the crime of violating the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, RCW 69.50, had been committed. CP 50. Officer Calabrese's affidavit can be summarized as follows.

At an undisclosed date and time, an anonymous informant contacted Officer Calabrese and said merely that a "William" was growing marijuana in the Shorewood area of Burien. CP 23. No additional information was provided—no last name, no address, no physical description, etc. *Id*.

Sometime thereafter, Officer Calabrese was driving in the Shorewood area and noticed an undisclosed number of teenage cannabis plants sitting on the back deck of Mr. Reis' home. *Id.* Upon further inspection, Officer Calabrese saw a man who looked similar to Mr. Reis transferring the plants from smaller pots to larger ones. *Id.*

Officer Calabrese parked his vehicle and entered a neighbor's property. CP 23. From the neighboring property, the officer claimed to hear "the distinct sound of humming coming from . . . the Northwest side

of the home" and observed that "one of the daylight basement windows was covered on the inside with black plastic." *Id.* Officer Calabrese also noticed that "there was a small amount of condensation on the interior of this window." *Id.* This evidence is generally indicative of an indoor cananbis garden. CP 23-24.

After this observation, Officer Calabrese attempted to contact neighbors to inquire on unusual short traffic stays or similar circumstances at the Shorewood Drive Property that would indicate a drug dealing operation. CP 26. In general, the neighbors refused to speak to Officer Calabrese, other than to state that they were fearful of Mr. Reis. *Id.*

Officer Calabrese's affidavit also includes a summary of Mr. Reis' prior criminal history, which included a 2005 arrest and VUCSA and VUFA charge for growing cannabis in the basement of his home, and a pending charge related to a 2011 arrest for possession of 1.3 grams of cannabis. CP 26.

In addition, Officer Calabrese cites to a written record from another investigation. CP 25-26. In that record, an Officer Klokow states generally that he learned through the Sheriff's Office of Mendocino County, California, that a marijuana grow was discovered in 2006 on property Officer Klokow claims Mr. Reis owned. CP 26. Individuals

unrelated to the case admitted responsibility for the grow. *Id.* No charges were filed against Mr. Reis. *Id.*

Officer Calabrese's affidavit fails to mention or address
Washington State's medical cannabis laws (Chapter 69.51A RCW).
Accordingly, Officer Calabrese made no effort in his investigation to determine whether or not Mr. Reis' activity complied with the terms and conditions of Chapter 69.51A RCW. For example, Officer Calabrese's affidavit fails to indicate the number of cannabis plants he witnessed Mr. Reis attending to on his back deck, and whether the number of plants exceeded the fifteen plant limit under RCW 69.51A.040(1).

Based on the forgoing information, Officer Calabrese sought and obtained a search warrant for Mr. Reis' home. Upon executing the warrant, officers discovered and seized 6 cannabis plants located on Mr. Reis' back deck, and from inside the home, officers seized 31 juvenile plants and roughly 13 pounds of cannabis. CP 5-6. It is unclear, from the Certification for Determination of Probable Cause, whether those 13 pounds included leaf, trim, or other non-useable plant matter. *Id.* Officers also found a scale and a bill of sale to Chronic LLC. CP 4-5. Under the state's medical cannabis laws, patients may collectively grow up to 45 plants and possess 24 ounces (4 pounds, 8 ounces) of useable cannabis. RCW 69.51A.085.

C. Summary of Argument

In 2011, the Washington State Legislature amended the state's medical cannabis laws, as provided in Chapter 69.51A RCW.

Accordingly, the possession of cannabis, in compliance with the terms and conditions of Chapter 69.51A RCW, "does not constitute a crime." RCW 69.51A.040 (emphasis added). Pursuant to this change in the law, qualified patients, under certain circumstances, may legally possess, manufacture, and distribute cannabis.

Because an individual may legally possess, manufacture, and distribute cannabis under certain circumstances, this activity, in and of itself, is not evidence of a crime, and law enforcement may not arrest individuals or search their home based solely on such activity. Something more is required; specifically, probable cause that the individual is in violation of the terms and conditions of Chapter 69.51A RCW.

In its order denying defendant's motion to suppress, however, the trial court concluded RCW 69.51A.040 provides only an affirmative defense and does not decriminalize the possession, manufacturing, and distribution of cannabis in certain circumstances. Accordingly, an affirmative defense does not legalize an activity, nor negate probable cause that a crime has been committed. *See State v. Fry*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010).

The trial court's interpretation of RCW 69.51A.040 is in error.

The court relied upon legislative history, specifically, the governor's partial veto of E2SSB 5073 (2011), to frustrate the plain and unambiguous language of the statute. *See* CP 53-81 for a copy of E2SSB 5073, subject to the governor's partial veto.

Even assuming, in the alternative, the plain language of the statute is ambiguous. The trial court's interpretation is contrary to rules of statutory interpretation and legislative intent.

The people and the legislature have spoken on this issue, law enforcement cannot arrest and search patients simply because they are in possession of cannabis. There must also be evidence such individuals are in violation of the state's medical cannabis laws.

Here, law enforcement failed to introduce any evidence of such a violation. Therefore, Mr. Reis respectfully requests this Court to reverse the trial court's order to deny the defendant's motion to suppress evidence and remand for dismissal of the related charge.

D. Argument

The trial court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress concerns the statutory interpretation of RCW 69.51A.040. The meaning of a statute is a question of law this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Gray*,

174 Wn.2d 920, 926, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012); State v. Breazeale, 144 Wn.2d 829, 837, 31 P.3d 1155 (2001).

A search is a governmental intrusion into a person's reasonable and justifiable expectation of privacy. *State v. Patterson*, 83 Wn.2d 49, 515 P.2d 496 (1973). For a search warrant to be valid, it must be supported by probable cause. *State v. Cole*, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). In determining the validity of a search warrant, the court is limited to the information and circumstances contained within the four corners of the underlying affidavit. *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658, (2008). A search warrant should be issued only if the application shows probable cause that the defendant is involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the criminal activity will be found in the place to be searched. *Neth*, 165 Wn. 2d at 182; *State v. Thein*, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999) (citing *Cole*, 128 Wn.2d at 286).

State officers cannot obtain a valid search warrant when there is no probable cause of a state crime, even if there is probable cause that the defendant is involved in federal criminal activity. *See United States v.*\$186,416.00 in U.S. Currency, 590 F.3d 942, 948 (9th Cir. 2010) (because evidence supporting a marijuana grow did not show probable cause of a crime in California law, even though it was illegal federally and was prosecuted federally, the search warrant had to be quashed.)

1. RCW 69.51A.040 Legalizes the Possession of Cannabis in Certain Circumstances.

In November 1998, the citizens of Washington enacted Initiative 692, the Medical Use of Marijuana Act. The Act is codified in Chapter 69.51A RCW. The Act provides patients and caregivers who meet the Act's requirements with an affirmative defense when charged by the state with possession or manufacturing medical cannabis. Courts interpreted the Act not to prohibit the arrest of those found with medical cannabis, but to provide for their eventual exoneration through court proceedings. *See State v. Fry*, 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010).

In an effort to correct this issue, which led to arrest without prosecution of countless of medical cannabis patients, the legislature, effective July 2011, amended the Act, converting what had been an affirmative defense to an exception to the general controlled substances statute. The applicable statutory provision now reads:

RCW 69.51A.040 Compliance with chapter – Qualifying patients and designated providers not subject to penalties – Law enforcement not subject to liability.

The medical use of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter does not constitute a crime and a qualifying patient or designated provider in compliance with the terms and conditions of this chapter may not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences, for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, or have

real or personal property seized or forfeited for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law

(Emphasis added).

The Washington legislature also codified their intent to legalize medical cannabis, stating in RCW 69.51A.005:

[T]he legislature intends that:

- (a) Qualifying patients with terminal or debilitating medical conditions who, in the judgment of their health care professionals, may benefit from the medical use of cannabis, shall not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences under state law based solely on their medical use of cannabis.
- (b) Persons who act as designated providers shall also not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences under state law, notwithstanding any other provision of the law, based solely on their assisting with the medical use of cannabis . . .

(Emphasis added).

Thus, Washington's medical cannabis laws legalize the growing and possession of cannabis so long as pursuant to the terms and conditisn of Chapter 69.51A RCW. RCW 69.51A.040.

For a medical patient, who is not participating in a collective garden pursuant to RCW 69.51A.085, these conditions include generally that the patient is diagnosed with a terminal or debilitating medical

condition (RCW 69.51A.010(4); the patient obtained a valid authorization to use cannabis for medical purposes (RCW 69.51A.010(7); the patient does not possess more than 15 cannabis plants (RCW 69.51A.040(1)); and law enforcement does not possess evidence that the patient converted cannabis for his or her medical use to a personal, nonmedical use or benefit (RCW 69.51A.040(4)(b)).

It is the state's position, however, that patients must also comply with a condition of Chapter 69.51A RCW that was vetoed by the governor. As noted above, the legislature significantly amended the state's medical cannabis laws in 2011. E2SSB 5073, 2011 Wash. Laws ch. 181; CP 53-81. This legislation was subject to a partial governor veto. The governor's partial veto left intact the language cited above, but vetoed sections of the law which involved the Department of Health and the Department of Agriculture overseeing a state licensed medical cannabis industry.

Relevant to this matter, such vetoed sections included Section 901, which required the Department of Health to develop a secure, state-wide registration system for all individuals authorized to use medical cananbis.

See CP 74-76 (vetoed copy of Section 901). As a result of the Governor's veto, no such registry exists.

Even though no such registry exists, RCW 69.51A.040 still references Section 901. *See generally*, RCW 69.51A.040(3) ("The qualifying patient or designated provider [must] keep[] a copy of his or her proof of registration with the registry established in *section 901 of this act . . . posted prominently next to any cannabis plants.") At the bottom of the statute, however, the Code Reviser clarifies that Section 901 was vetoed by the governor. *See* RCW 69.51A.040 ("Reviser's note: Section 901 of this act was vetoed by the governor.")

Despite the veto, the trial court held that "in the absence of a state-wide registry, compliance with the terms and provisions of the medical marijuana law remains an affirmative defense to prosecution for the possession, manufacture, or sale of marijuana." CP 101. This conclusion is in error because it disregards the plain and unambiguous language of RCW 69.51A.040. In addition, even if such language is ambiguous, the law must be construed strictly against the state and in favor of Mr. Reis and the patients the law was intended to protect.

a. The plain and unambiguous language of RCW 69.51A.040 legalizes the possession of cannabis in certain circumstances, any discussion of legislative history is inappropriate.

The language of RCW 69.51A.040 is plain and unambiguous—the possession of cannabis, under certain circumstances, "does not constitute a

crime." Accordingly, the governor's veto and related legislative history is irrelevant. "Where a statute is unambiguous, we will determine the Legislature's intent from the language of the statute alone." *Waste Management of Seattle, Inc. v. Utilities and Transp. Com'n*, 123 Wn.2d 621, 629, 869 P.2d 1034 (1994). The "court looks first to its plain language. If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, then this court's inquiry is at an end." *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201, (2007) (internal citations omitted). The language could not have been clearer, possession of cannabis under the terms and conditions of Chapter 69.51A RCW, "does not constitute a crime." RCW 69.51A.040.

Judge Nielson from the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Washington agreed and upheld this plain reading of the statute. *See United States of America v. Jerad Kynaston et al*, No. CR-12-0016-WFN (E.D. Wa filed Feb. 7, 2012) (appealed to the Ninth Circuit, No. 12-30208, Jun. 18, 2012); CP 28-31. The court in *Kynaston* held that to "obtain a warrant, officers must show probable cause that the criteria of the medical marijuana exception have not been met." CP 29.

Furthermore, the governor's veto of the state-wide registry, in Section 901 of E2SSB 5073 (2011), may not defeat the plain and unambiguous language. Any reference to Section 901 within RCW

69.51A.040 was effectively removed by the partial veto. Accordingly, Chapter 69.51A RCW must be read as though Section 901 and the statewide registry was <u>never</u> considered by the legislature.

"The Governor's veto of a portion of a measure, if the veto is not overridden, removes the vetoed material from the legislation as effectively as though it had never been considered by the legislature." *Hallin v.*Trent, 94 Wn.2d 671, 677, 619 P.2d 357 (1980) (emphasis added). "In exercising the veto power, the governor acts as a part of the legislative bodies, and the act is to be considered now just as it would have been if the vetoed provisions had never been written into the bill at any stage of the proceedings." *Id.* at 678; *Shelton Hotel Co. v. Bates*, 4 Wn.2d 498, 506, 104 P.2d 478 (1940).

Pursuant to the *Hallin* and *Shelton Hotel*, quoted above, RCW 69.51A.040 plainly reads as follows:

The medical use of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter does not constitute a crime and a qualifying patient or designated provider in compliance with the terms and conditions of this chapter may not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences, for possession, manufacture, or delivery of, or for possession with intent to manufacture or deliver, cannabis under state law, . . . if:

- (1)(a) The qualifying patient or designated provider possesses no more than fifteen cannabis plants and:
- (i) No more than twenty-four ounces of useable cannabis;

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