NO. 69911-3-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION I

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

#### WILLIAM MICHAEL REIS,

Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE ANDREA DARVAS

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

#

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

The relatively narrow question before this Court is whether officers seeking a search warrant for a residence where marijuana is being grown must first establish that the grow operation is not for medical marijuana. Reis argues that officers must disprove full compliance with

the Medical Use of Marijuana Act because a search warrant is authorized only to investigate crime, and it is not a crime to possess medical marijuana. This argument should be rejected. Usually, officers need not disprove an affirmative defense to establish probable cause that a crime is being committed. The recent changes to the Medical Use of Marijuana Act did not decriminalize marijuana. Rather, marijuana cultivation is illegal in Washington State but medical marijuana may, under very specific circumstances, be possessed, used and grown. A defendant has the burden of proving as an affirmative defense that he had fully complied with the Medical Use of Marijuana Act.

# 1. A SEARCH WARRANT AFFIDAVIT NEED NOT DEFEAT AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES.

Probable cause requires "reasonable grounds for suspicion supported by circumstances sufficiently strong to warrant a man of ordinary caution to believe the accused is guilty of the indicated crime."

State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 906, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). According to the Washington Supreme Court, "[r]easonableness is the key ingredient in the test for issuance of a search warrant." State v. Patterson, 83 Wn.2d 49, 52, 515 P.2d 496 (1973). Probable cause does not require law enforcement officers to disprove innocent explanations. Illinois v.

Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 126, 120 S. Ct. 673, 145 L. Ed. 2d 570 (2000) ("[T]he Fourth Amendment accepts . . . persons arrested and detained on probable cause to believe they have committed a crime may turn out to be innocent."). "In making a determination of probable cause the relevant inquiry is not whether particular conduct is 'innocent' or 'guilty,' but the degree of suspicion that attaches to particular types of non-criminal acts." Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 245, n.13, 103 S. Ct. 2317, 76 L. Ed. 2d 527 (1983).

Washington courts have similarly concluded that probable cause does not demand an absence of innocent explanations for a suspect's behavior. State v. Fore, 56 Wn. App. 339, 344, 783 P.2d 626 (1989);

State v. Graham, 130 Wn.2d 711, 725, 927 P.2d 227 (1996) (holding that police officers had probable cause to detain the defendant where a person of reasonable caution would believe the defendant possessed an illegal drug). In State v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 13, 228 P.3d 1 (2010), the court held that "an affirmative defense does not negate probable cause for a search . . . conducted with a valid warrant." Fry attempted to thwart a police search by showing a medical marijuana card. The Washington Supreme Court held that purported evidence of an affirmative defense did not

prevent the officer from carrying out the search. The Court reasoned, "It is difficult to imagine how a law enforcement officer, having been presented with a medical marijuana authorization, would be able to determine that the marijuana is otherwise being lawfully possessed . . . without some kind of search." Id. at 6. An officer does not need to assess the relative strength of the suspect's affirmative defense because "[t]he officer is not judge or jury." Id. at 8 (quoting McBride v. Walla Walla Cnty., 95 Wn. App. 33, 40, 975 P.2d 1029 (1999)).

The rule that probable cause does not require law enforcement to disprove affirmative defenses is particularly apt with regard to the Medical Use of Marijuana Act. The facts that make possession lawful are uniquely in the user or grower's possession and are subject to important privileges, such that gathering those facts would be nearly impossible for police.

RCW 69.51A.010 defines "qualified patients" and "designated providers" in a way that relies on confidential communications with health care

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Establishing probable cause to search is distinct from actually arresting someone. "Probable cause to arrest concerns the guilt of the arrestee, whereas probable cause to search an item concerns the connection of the items sought with crime and the present location of the items." <u>U.S. v. O'Connor</u>, 658 F.2d 688, 693, n.7 (9th Cir. 1981). "This distinction is a critical one, and is particularly important in search warrant cases . . . . [A] search warrant is not rendered invalid because of a lack of grounds to arrest any particular person . . . ." 2 <u>Search and Seizure</u> §3.1(b), 12 (5th ed. 2012).

providers.<sup>3</sup> Police officers do not have access to private medical information of suspects to determine whether a marijuana grow operation is for medical as opposed to recreational purposes. RCW 5.60.060 ("a physician ... shall not, without the consent of his or her patient, be examined in a civil action as to any information acquired in attending such patient, which was necessary to enable him or her to prescribe or act for the patient); RCW 10.58.010 ("The rules of evidence in civil actions, so far as practicable, shall be applied to criminal prosecutions."); State v. Broussard, 12 Wn. App. 355, 529 P.2d 1128 (1974) (discussing privilege in the criminal law context). Thus, officers cannot know by normal investigative techniques whether a grow is medical or illicit. They would have to rummage through medical records or otherwise delve into the private physician/patient relationship to do so. It would be impossible for police to know where to begin their investigation, because they would have no idea who treated a patient for medical problems, if anyone.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Designated provider' means a person who: (a) Is eighteen years of age or older; (b) Has been designated in writing by a patient to serve as a designated provider under this chapter; (c) Is prohibited from consuming marijuana obtained for the personal, medical use of the patient for whom the individual is acting as designated provider; and (d) Is the designated provider to only one patient at any one time." RCW 69.51A.010(1).

<sup>&</sup>quot;'Qualifying patient' means a person who: (a) Is a patient of a health care professional; (b) Has been diagnosed by that health care professional as having a terminal or debilitating medical condition; (c) Is a resident of the state of Washington at the time of such diagnosis; (d) Has been advised by that health care professional about the risks and benefits of the medical use of marijuana; and (e) Has been advised by that health care professional that they may benefit from the medical use of marijuana." RCW 69.51A.010(4).

Moreover, it is difficult to imagine how officers would obtain access to such records without first searching the grow operation itself, and without some other evidence that the defendant was, under Reis's heightened standard, violating the Medical Use of Marijuana Act. For all these reasons, one would expect that the usual rule – that police need not disprove affirmative defenses – should apply in this context.

2. CULTIVATION OF MARIJUANA IS ILLEGAL UNDER WASHINGTON LAW; AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE EXISTS FOR QUALIFYING PATIENTS AND DESIGNATED PROVIDERS WHO POSSESS MARIJUANA FOR MEDICAL PURPOSES.

Because it is well-established that police need not refute affirmative defenses in an application for a search warrant, Reis must argue that recent changes to the Medical Use of Marijuana Act eliminated the affirmative defense. He argues that those changes decriminalized the use and cultivation of medical marijuana, such that the onus is on law enforcement to show that he is acting illegally, rather than on him to establish an affirmative defense. This argument should be rejected. The recent changes to the statute do not decriminalize marijuana use; a defendant who is complying with the Medical Use of Marijuana Act may assert and prove an affirmative defense to a criminal charge.

Under RCW 69.50.204(c)(22), marijuana is a Schedule I unlawful controlled substance, and possession or cultivation is prohibited.

RCW 69.50.401(1). Thus, the possession and use of marijuana is, and has been, generally prohibited under Washington law.

Starting in 1998, however, the legislature passed the Medical Use of Marijuana Act to allow people suffering from serious medical conditions to use marijuana medicinally. The Act provided that:

Qualifying patients with terminal or debilitating illnesses who, in the judgment of their physicians, may benefit from the medical use of marijuana, shall not be found guilty of a crime . . . . Persons who act as designated providers to such patients shall also not be found guilty of a crime . . . .

RCW 69.51A.005. The law provided an affirmative defense for medical marijuana.

If charged with a violation of state law relating to marijuana, any qualifying patient who is engaged in the medical use of marijuana, or any designated provider who assists a qualifying patient in the medical use of marijuana, will be deemed to have established an affirmative defense to such charges by proof of his or her compliance with the requirements provided in this chapter.

RCW 69.51A.040. Thus, Washington law provided that marijuana possession and cultivation remained presumptively illegal, but it gave qualified patients and their designated providers an affirmative defense to prosecution.

In 2011, the legislature voted to approve amendments to chapter 69.51A RCW that were intended to broaden protections for patients and providers of medical marijuana. See Laws of 2011, ch. 181. The stated intent was to shield users from arrest, prosecution and criminal sanctions. Id. § 101(1)(a) (vetoed).<sup>4</sup> The bill attempted to establish licensing requirements and a registry for qualified medical marijuana patients and providers, and to require that police check the registry before obtaining a search warrant. Ch. 181, § 901(1), (4) (vetoed). The registry was necessary, of course, to allow police a means of quickly distinguishing between qualified patients and designated providers, on the one hand, and illicit users and illegal providers, on the other hand. Participation in the registry was not to be mandatory. Id. § 901(6) (vetoed). People who participated in the registry would, however, have the highest level of protection. Registrants were to be protected from arrest, prosecution, and other criminal sanctions as long as they followed the law.

The medical use of cannabis in accordance with the terms and conditions of this chapter does not constitute a crime and a qualifying patient or designated provider in compliance with the terms and conditions of this chapter may not be arrested, prosecuted, or subject to other criminal sanctions or civil consequences ... if:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "(a) Qualifying patients and designated providers complying with the terms of this act and registering with the department of health will no longer be subject to arrest or prosecution, other criminal sanctions, or civil consequences based solely on their medical use of cannabis."

- (1) The qualifying patient or designated provider possesses no more than [specified amounts of cannabis];
- (2) The qualifying patient or designated provider presents his or her proof of registration with the department of health, to any peace officer who questions the patient or provider regarding his or her medical use of cannabis;
- (3) The qualifying patient or designated provider keeps a copy of his or her proof of registration with the registry established in section 901 of this act and the qualifying patient or designated provider's contact information posted prominently next to any cannabis plants, cannabis products, or useable cannabis located at his or her residence;
- (4) The investigating peace officer does not possess evidence that [the patient or provider has violated various other statutory requirements relating to medical cannabis].

Id. 401, codified as RCW 69.51A.040 (emphasis added).

Patients and providers who were not listed on the registry, however, would have to rely on a more general affirmative defense to prosecution:

A qualifying patient or designated provider who is not registered with the registry established in section 901 of this act, but who presents his or her valid documentation to any peace officer who questions the patient or provider regarding his or her medical use of cannabis, may assert an affirmative defense to charges of violations of state law relating to cannabis through proof at trial, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he or she otherwise meets the requirements of RCW 69.51A.040.

Id. § 402(2), codified as RCW 69.51A.043(2). Under this affirmative defense provision, there is no general protection against law enforcement,

there is only an affirmative defense that can be raised at trial. This is very similar to the protection that existed in 2010.

The Governor vetoed, however, large sections of the bill, including key provisions that would have established licensing of medical marijuana patients and providers. The Governor feared that a registry with licensing and authorization requirements would compel state employees to violate federal law prohibiting marijuana use under any circumstances, and would "open public employees to federal prosecution," particularly because "the United States Attorneys have made it clear that state law would not provide these individuals with a safe harbor from federal prosecution."

Governor's Partial Veto Message on E2SSB 5073 (April 29, 2011).

Because a registry of patients and providers was "intertwined with requirements for registration of licensed commercial producers, processors and dispensers of cannabis," the registry provisions were vetoed, too. Id. at 3. The legislature did not override the veto.

When a Governor vetoes a bill voted on by both houses of the legislature, the Governor is acting in a legislative capacity, so the intent of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The following sections were vetoed: §§ 101, 201, 407, 410, 411, 412, 601, 602, 603, 604, 605, 606, 607, 608, 609, 610, 611, 701, 702, 703, 704, 705, 801, 802, 803, 804, 805, 806, 807, 901, 902, 1104, 1201, 1202, 1203 and 1206.

the legislature cannot be considered apart from the Governor's intent. 

Shelton Hotel Co. v. Bates, 4 Wn.2d 498, 506, 104 P.2d 478 (1940);

Hallin v. Trent, 94 Wn.2d 671, 677, 619 P.2d 357 (1980). The Governor's veto of a portion of a measure, if the veto is not overridden, removes the vetoed material from the legislation as effectively as though it had never been considered by the legislature. State ex rel. Stiner v. Yelle, 174 Wash. 402, 408, 25 P.2d 91 (1933).

It follows that it is currently impossible to register as a "qualified patient" or "designated provider," so it is also impossible for police to check a registry before obtaining a search warrant. The premise for what Reis describes as the presumptively legal use of medical marijuana — assuming, arguendo that any such a presumption existed — depended on the ability of patients and providers to readily demonstrate to police that they were acting within the law. Once that premise was defeated by the veto of the registry provisions, however, the concept of legal medicinal use became impossible. What remains is the Legislature's retention of the provision allowing qualified patients and designated providers to present

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Governor's veto did not, as Reis argues, invalidate the affirmative defense provisions. As the Governor pointed out in her veto message, because RCW 69.51A.043, RCW 69.51A.045, and RCW 69.51A.047 always governed those who are not registered, the affirmative defense provisions are "meaningful even though section 901 has been vetoed." Governor's Partial Veto Message on E2SSB 5073, p.3 (April 29, 2011).

an affirmative defense in response to charges of unlawful marijuana possession. *See* RCW 69.51A.043, .045, .047.

3. REIS'S INTERPRETATION OF RCW 69.51A.040
IGNORES THE REST OF THE UNIFORM
CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT AND KEY
LANGUAGE OF THE MEDICAL USE OF MARIJUANA
ACT.

Reis argues that because the "plain language" of RCW 69.51A.040 says, "the medical use of cannabis . . . does not constitute a crime," it follows that possession of marijuana for medical use is presumptively legal rather than an affirmative defense. He maintains that because medical marijuana is presumptively legal, law enforcement bears the burden of proving that a suspect does not have a medical reason for possessing or cultivating marijuana. He also argues that the rule of lenity demands his interpretation be accepted. Reis is incorrect on both accounts.

Reis treats the plain language rule as if the meaning of a single phrase can be deemed "plain" without reference to the surrounding language and related statutory provisions. "Legislation never is written on a clean slate, never is read in isolation, and never applies in a vacuum.

Every new act is a component of an extensive and elaborate system of

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